ORIGINAL

COURT OF APPEALS

2012 JUN 25 PM 1: 05

STATE OF WASHINGTON

8%0. 43265-0-11 1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT LISLE HALE, Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF LISLE HALE, deceased; CLARA HALE, surviving spouse of LISLE HALE; ROBERT L. HALE; DONALD HALE; and TRICIA HALE,

Appellants,

VS.

BRIDGE BUILDERS, LTD.; MINDI R. BLANCHARD and John Doe Blanchard; BRENDA CARPENTER and John Doe Carpenter; JANET WATRAL and John Doe Watral,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Stephen K. Eugster WSBA No. 2003 Eugster Law Office, P.S.C. Attorney for Appellants

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is about how families care for their elderly members and the protection of rights of the family in providing the care.

This case seeks to establish the wrongs and negligence of

Defendants regarding the Hale Family and the care of Lisle and Clara

Hale. The damages resulting from the injuries may not be great, but they indeed exist, even if nominally so.

Plaintiffs, individually, and in association with each other as a family, over the years planned and provided for the care of the elderly members of the family, the parents, Lisle and Clara Hale, as they progressed into old age and became progressively dependent on 24-hour care from others. Part of the plan was to move Lisle and Clara Hale to Sherwood Assisted Living so that they could receive and be assured of the additional care they were in need of. Lisle Hale was first moved to Sherwood in April 2008. As Clara Hale's health deteriorated and her needs increased, she too was moved to Sherwood in June 2008.

The family's efforts were put asunder by Defendants. The family saw what was going on and acted to protect Lisle and Clara Hale and the family.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error.

Plaintiffs assign error to:

- The trial court's improper treatment of Failure to State a
 Claim Motions as Motions for Summary Judgment when such motions should have been treated as Failure to State a
 Claim Motions under CR 12(b)(6).
- 2. Dismissal of Count 1 and Count 2.
- 3. Dismissal of Count 3.
- 4. Dismissal of Count 4.
- 5. Dismissal of Count 5.
- 6. Dismissal of Count 6.
- 7. The dismissal, and failure to create, a new or revised cause of action for interference with family relationships and, in conjunction therewith, the Dismissal or failure to transform Counts 7, 8 and 9 into such new causes of action, or in the alternative, the dismissal of Counts 7, 8 and 9.
- 8. The denial of Plaintiffs' Motion for Discovery.
- The granting of Defendants' Motion for Protective Order regarding discovery.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error.

- 1. Do the Plaintiffs have standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgments Act, RCW Ch. 7.24, to pursue their claims for the declaratory relief sought in Counts One and Two of the Amended Complaint?
 - Whether Defendants are required to be licensed under the In Home Care Services Act, RCW
 70.127?
 - b. Whether the powers of attorney held by Defendants were illegal under RCW 70.127.150?
- Whether it was proper for the Court to deny Plaintiffs' Motion for Discovery and for the Court to grant Defendant's Motion for Protective Order when the information sought by the discovery of Plaintiffs had a direct bearing on whether Defendants should have been licensed under the In Home Care Services Act, RCW 70.127.
- Do the allegations in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, if
 proven, support a finding of abandonment, abuse, financial
 exploitation or neglect under the Vulnerable Adult Act,
 RCW 74.34?

- 4. Do the Plaintiffs have standing to pursue the claim in Count 4 for violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86?
- 5. Does Washington law recognize a standard of care owed by providers of elder care case management services that would form the basis for Plaintiffs' malpractice claim in Count Six?
- 6. Should the court fashion a new cause of action for the protection of families who as families work out care plans for elderly members of the family?
- 7. Do Counts 7, 8, and 9 or any of them Fail to State a Claim under the requirements of CR 12(b)(6)?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Facts.

On April 4, 2008, Lisle Hale, then age 86, became a resident of Sherwood Assisted Living in Sequim, Washington (Sherwood). On June 3, 2008, Clara Hale, his wife, then age 90, became a resident of Sherwood. The Hales were not able to care for themselves in their home and needed 24-hour care consisting of "home care" and "home health care" seven days a week. Declaration of Tricia Hale in Support of Plaintiffs' Motions for Partial Summary Judgment (Tricia Hale Declaration). CP22 at 123 and ff.

The next day, June 4, 2008, Lisle and Clara Hale came into contact with attorney Michael R. Hastings. On June 4, 2008, the Hales met with Mindi Blanchard of Bridge Builders, Ltd. *Id.* 125.

On June 6, 2008, the Hales signed a number of documents – (a) Revocations of Durable Powers of Attorney they had previously signed, (b) Revocations of Durable Powers of Attorney for Health Care they had previously signed, and (c) Durable Powers of Attorney for each. All of these documents were presented to them by the attorney they had just met on June 4, 2008, Michael R. Hastings. Declaration of Robert Hale in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgement (Robt. Hale Declaration) 7, Attachments 22-39. CP 317 and 346 - 363.

Each of the new Durable Powers of Attorney named "Mindi Blanchard, of Bridge Builders" as attorney-in-fact and "Brenda Carpenter, of Bridge Builders" as alternate attorney-in-fact. *Id.* Each of the powers gave "Mindi Blanchard, of Bridge Builders" and "Brenda Carpenter, of Bridge Builders" (as alternate), broad powers to act on behalf of the principal of each of the powers: (1) they were given the power to act as attorney-in-fact for the principal for all purposes (the powers not limited, they were not special powers); they were nominated as the guardian of the person and property of the principal; and, they were given power to make health care decisions for the principal. *Id.*

As soon as these powers were signed, Bridge Builders, Blanchard and Carpenter and others under their control commenced to make arrangements to physically move Lisle and Clara Hale from Sherwood back to their home in Sequim. They changed the locks on doors in the Hale residence so as to keep the Hale's daughter and live-in caregiver from access, changed bank accounts which allowed them to have power over the Hale finances, wrote checks to Bridge Builders and Michael Hastings, had the Hales sign them and delivered them, began making arrangements for people to come to the Hale residence to provide home care services, and actually commenced to take the Hales from Sherwood back to their home in Sequim. Robt. Hale Declaration, CP 322 - 23.

At the time and thereafter, Bridge Builders, Blanchard and Carpenter advertised and held themselves out providing a host of "home care" services as an in-home care agency; that is, an entity which provided services so that people in need of care could stay in their homes as long as possible. Declaration of Robt. Hale, CP 318 - 321; CP 325 - 341.

Bridge Builders advertised itself next to an advertisement of Michael R. Hastings. Robt. Hale Declaration, CP 364. The advertisement included reference to the Bridge Builders Internet website—

www.bridgebldrs.com and also provided an email address.

info@bridgbldrs.com. Id.

On the website, Bridge Builders provided information about the services it provided. The Internet information identified Bridge Builders as "Providing Assisted Living Services in the Home." *Id.*, CP 325 - 41. The home page of the website also said that Bridge Builders provided "Supported Independence" and that it was "Licensed, Insured and Bonded." CP 325. The site included a "Menu of Services" (CP 320) and "Specialty Services." *Id.* In the Fees section, Bridge Builders said its "Mission" was as follows: "We bridge the gaps in resources, and provide the framework for individuals to be able to maintain their personal independence for as long as possible." *Id.* A 331. *Id.*, Attachments at 7.

The Menu of Services provided that there were two types of services: (a.) services to Members and non-Members and (b) services to Bridge Builders, Ltd. members only. Appendix A, attached hereto. In the Specialty Services section, Bridge Builders advertised these services: (a) Power of Attorney – services as attorney-in-fact under power of attorney; (b) Certified Professional Guardian; (c) "Representative of the Estate." *Id*.

Bridge Builders also touted its "Educational Workshops" and its annual "Continuing Education Conference." *Id.*, Attachments at 17.

All of the specific services advertised and held out as being or to be provided are described in the Declaration of Robert Hale and restated in Appendix A, attached hereto.

While the Hales were still at Sherwood Assisted Living, Bridge Builders, Blanchard and Carpenter provided a number of services. The services are set forth in the Declaration of Robert Hale at 6 - 7 and in Attachments thereto, 18 - 21.

Things which should have been done - Semingson.

After the Hales had been moved back to their home, Bridge Builders, Blanchard and Carpenter planned to provide, and/or would have had to provide, complete extensive home care and home health services and related services so that the Hales would be taken care of in the home. These services included, but were not limited to, those described in the Declaration of Tricia Hale, CP 314 - 316. They are:

- Arrange 24-hour a day, seven-day a week care along with a nurse to monitor and administer their medications and check on them during the night.
- They would have had to be able to get them to and from their doctor appointments and to the hospital, if necessary, as we had to many times in the previous several years.
- Get them to and from Church every Saturday evening.
- They would have had to have someone come in and clean the house, do the laundry, get them up and help them get dressed, help them get to and from the bathroom and clean up after them when they had accidents, including helping them change their underwear and clothes.
- They also needed help with all of their personal things such as showering, teeth brushing, hair care (they couldn't remember to do many of these things any more without being reminded on a regular basis), preparation of all meals and cleanup afterwards, shopping for and acquiring all food, beverage, snacks, and personal

care items that they may need. Clara could no longer remember how to brush her teeth, didn't know how to answer the phone and was using the phone (backwards) to try to change channels on the TV.

- Arrange to acquire all of their medications at the least possible cost.
- Fill out and file all paper work for medical related reimbursements from the insurance companies and pay all bills.
- Arrange for the care and upkeep of the house and property.
- Deal with their investment portfolio making decisions as to investments and moving investments around.
- Handle federal and state tax reporting and payments.
- Answer personal correspondence (even if not initiated by Lisle or Clara - there is a need to keep people informed of what is going on in their lives).
- Provide company and human interaction apart from the basic services to them and to and for the property.

B. Procedural Status.

The case was commenced in May 2009. Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint was filed on May 18, 2009. Defendants Bridge Builders¹ filed their Answer on June 2, 2009. Defendant Watral filed her Answer on June 30, 2009.

1. Motions for Summary Judgment.

First Motion. Defendants Bridge Builders brought a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment regarding the In-Home Services Act (RCW

¹⁴⁴ Defendants Bridge Builders* means Defendant Bridge Builders, Mindi Blanchard and Brenda Carpenter.

Ch. 70.127) on July 31, 2009. Defendant Janet Watral (Defendant Watral) joined in the motion on August 4, 2009.

Defendants filed two Declarations in support of their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. One Declaration was by Mindi Blanchard dated July 24, 2009. CP 452. The second Declaration was by Alan Millet dated July 23, 2009.

The Blanchard Declaration set forth the services provided in the Clallam County area, attached as Attachment A. Ms. Blanchard also said that she relied on Alan Millet for his opinion regarding the proper licensing of her business. She also referred to information which can be found on the Internet at www.bridgebldrs.com. In conjunction with statements of all the services Bridge Builders provided, the statement indicated that they acted so as to keep their clients in their homes. The advertising said "Our goal is to ensure you receive those services you need (and only those you need) to stay independent and in the comfort of your home." CP 452 - 456.

The Alan Millet Declaration asserts that Bridge Builders is not required to be licensed under RCW 70.127 and that there is an exemption in paragraph 14 of RCW 70.1 7.040 relating to "case management."²

² This Declaration will be added to the Clerk's Papers at the behest of Plaintiffs or provided to the court if not added to the Clerk's Papers.

Thus, the Motion for Summary Judgment and the Affidavits in support thereof was a partial motion dealing specifically and only with the applicability of RCW 70.127 to the work of Defendants.

Judge Verser granted the motion. Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Reconsideration.

On September 18, 2009, an Order Granting Defendants Bridge Builders Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was granted. CP 420.

On September 28, 2009, Plaintiffs brought a Motion for Reconsideration of the Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment. On October 21, 2009, the court entered an Order Granting the Motion and denying Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. CP 402. Appendix A.

Second Motion. In the spring of 2011, Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment regarding the In-Home Services Act.

In response, Defendants Bridge Builders filed a Counter-Motion for Summary Judgment on May 11, 2011.

The Counter Motion for Summary Judgment again was limited to the application of RCW 70.127 and whether Defendants' service as attorney-in-fact for Lisle and Clara Hale violated RCW 70.127.150.

Another question was whether Defendants Bridge Builders violated the Washington Consumer Protection Act.

In support of their counter motion they utilize the Declaration of Mindi Blanchard dated July 24, 2009, which was given in support of Motion for Production of Records. In addition, they relied on the Declaration of Matthew Boyle concerning a letter from the Department of Health dated April 23, 2009 (CP 39) and the Declaration Robert Hale, presumably the Declaration of Robert Hale filed in support of the Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 317.

On June 22, 2011, Judge Craddock Verser signed and entered his Memorandum Opinion and Order on Motion for Summary Judgment denying Plaintiffs' motion, and in essence denying Defendants' countermotion. CP 252. Appendix B.

Third Motion. On December 5, 2011, Defendants filed their third Motion for Summary Judgment. Defendants asserted "in view of the Court's ruling in its June 22, 2011 Order, defendants move the court pursuant to CR 56 for summary judgment on new grounds based on lack of standing and failure to state a claim." CP 218. The Motion for Summary Judgment related specifically to the applicability of RCW 70.127. The standing which was referred to was standing with respect of that claim. They also sought a decision on "failure to state a claim."

The evidence relied on for Plaintiffs' claim was the Declaration of Mindi Blanchard in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary

Judgment and attachments thereto dated December 5, 2011 (CP 239 - 247), as well as the evidence previously submitted into the record in Plaintiffs' and Defendants' prior Motions for Summary Judgment. That is, the declaration referred to above. The court entered it. Amended Memorandum Opinion and Order, CP 15 - 28. See Attachment C.

Again, the declarations were limited to the issue of whether RCW 70.127 applies to the conduct of Defendants. The declarations did not address any other issues as to whether the Plaintiffs had failed to state a claim.

Plaintiffs' evidence with respect of the motions was as follows:

First Motion - Pleadings.

Second Motion. Declaration of Robert Hale in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment (CP 317) and Declaration of Tricia Hale Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. CP 314.

Third Motion. Declaration of Alice Semingson dated 12/27/11 (CP 102); Declaration of Tricia Hale in Response to Defendants' Motions for Partial Summary Judgment (12/23/2011), (CP 122); Declaration of Robert Hale in Response to Motions for Summary Judgment dated 12/22/11, with attached exhibits (CP 131); and Declaration of Stephen K. Eugster dated 12/29/11. CP 274.

2. Discovery.

Depositions of Plaintiffs were taken in January 2011. In the fall of 2011, depositions of Bridge Builders, Blanchard, Carpenter, Watral, and an employee of Sherwood Assisted-Living, Rena Keith, were taken.

Various Interrogatories and Requests for Production have been sought and had by the parties.

3. Dismissal of Hastings.

Defendants Hastings were dismissed from the case in the spring of 2011.

C. Questions Presented by Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Failure to State Claims.

Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment presented the following Questions:³

- 1. Do the Plaintiffs have standing under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, RCW § 7.24, to pursue their claims for the declaratory relief sought in Counts One and Two of the Amended Complaint?
- 2. Do the allegations in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint, if proven, support a finding of abandonment, abuse, financial exploitation or neglect under the Vulnerable Adult Act, RCW 74.34?
- 3. Do the Plaintiffs have standing to pursue the claim in Count Four, for violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, RCW 19.86?
- 4. Does Washington law recognize a standard of care owed by providers of elder care case management services that would form the

³ Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment, CP 217, 221 - 22.

basis for Plaintiffs' malpractice claim in Count Six?

- 5. Does Washington law recognize a cause of action for malicious interference with family relationships, and if so, do Plaintiffs' allegations, if proven, support such a claim?
- 6. Can Plaintiff's meet the objective symptomology element necessary to maintain their claim in Count Eight for negligent infliction of emotional distress?
- 7. Can Plaintiffs meet the extreme and outrageous element necessary to support their claim in Count Nine for intentional infliction of emotional distress?

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Hale Family had a plan for the care of the elderly parents of the family who went to Sherwood Assisted Living where they received more care than could be provided at their home. Defendants put that plan asunder causing injury to the members of the family. This would not have happened had the Defendants been licensed under the In Home Care Act, RCW Ch. 70.127. This would not have happened if Defendants knew as they should that the powers of attorney they had obtained were illegal under the Act. This would not have happened had Defendants adhered to the standards of care they should have adhered to as professional geriatric caregivers.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Synopsis of Applicable Laws.

1. Summary Judgment.

In making a summary judgment decision, the court must determine

whether, after reviewing all relevant pleadings and affidavits in favor of the nonmoving party, any genuine issue of material fact exists that prevents the moving party from being entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Stuart v. American States Ins. Co., 134 Wn.2d 814, 818, 953 P.2d 462 (1998) (citing CR 56(c)).

A summary judgment may only be had if there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn,2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982).

All facts and reasonable inferences are reviewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d at 437. Judgment as a matter of law is appropriate where there is no legally sufficient basis for a reasonable jury to find for a party with respect to the issue, CR 50; *see also, Schmidt v. Coogan*, 162 Wn.2d 488, 493, 173 P.3d 273 (2007) (per curiam) (an order granting judgment as a matter of law should be limited to circumstances in which there is no doubt as to the proper verdict).

2. Failure to State A Claim, CR 12(b)(6).

A CR 12(b)(6) motion is only granted when it appears from the face of the complaint that the plaintiff would not be entitled to relief even if he proves all the alleged facts supporting the claim. A trial court's ruling

on a CR 12(b)(6) motion presents a question of law that the appellate court reviews de novo. Kinney v. Cook, 159 Wn.2d 837, 842, 154 P.3d 206 (2007) (citing Tenore v. AT & T Wireless Servs., 136 Wn.2d 322, 329-30, 962 P.2d 104 (1998)).

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