COURT OF APPEALS

2012 JUL 25 AM 9: 28

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY DEPUTY

CAUSE No. 43265-0-II

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT LISLE HALE, Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF LISLE HALE, deceased; CLARA HALE, surviving spouse of LISLE HALE; ROBERT L. HALE; DONALD HALE; and TRICIA HALE,

Appellants,

V.

BRIDGE BUILDERS, LTD.; MINDI R. BLANCHARD and John Doe Blanchard; BRENDA CARPENTER and John Doe Carpenter; JANET WATRAL and John Doe Watral,

Respondents.

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS BRIDGE BUILDERS, BLANCHARD, AND CARPENTER

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

The declarations of Bridge Builders, Robert Hale and Tricia Hale detail the complete extent of the relationship and interactions between Bridge Builders and the Hales. There are absolutely no material facts in dispute respecting the services Bridge Builders provided to Lisle and Clara

Hale and the interactions between the parties over the course of June 5, 2008 through June 13, 2008, the entirety of their association.<sup>2</sup> Construing the facts, the extensive case record and all of the evidence before it in the light most favorable to the Hales, the trial court did not err in concluding the Hales lack standing to pursue their claims pursuant to the UDJA and the CPA and do not set forth specific facts creating an issue of material fact or establishing the existence of elements essential to their remaining claims.

# B. The Court Lacks Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over the Hales' Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act Claims

The trial court did not err in concluding it does not have subject matter jurisdiction over the Hales' UDJA claims because the Hales lack standing to bring those claims and the claims do not present a justiciable controversy. Contrary to the Hales' assertion that the "only basis for the court's conclusion of lack of standing is the court's position on injury in fact," (Br. 28), the court found it lacked jurisdiction not only because the Hales failed to demonstrate the injury in fact essential to standing but also because a decision by the court would not be final and conclusive. (CP 63.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Those are the only facts material to plaintiffs' claims. Contrary to plaintiffs' continuing assertions, facts respecting defendants' services to any of their other, third-party clients are not material to this litigation and do not assist plaintiffs in establishing any of the elements of their claims.

# 1. Standing Is Not an Affirmative Defense and May Be Raised at Any Time.

The Hales' argument that subject matter jurisdiction and standing are affirmative defenses Bridge Builders waived by not asserting in its answer is incorrect and they provide no case law to support the proposition. "The question of Superior Court subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time." *Matter of Saltis*, 94 Wn.2d 889, 893, 621 P.2d 716, 718 (1980). As a jurisdictional question, standing challenges may therefore be raised at any time. *Diehl v. W. Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 118 Wn.App. 212, 75 P.3d 975 (2003).

Bridge Builders raised the Hales' lack of standing in the context of considering the requirements for subject matter jurisdiction under the UDJA. The Washington Supreme Court has said that standing is inherent in the four requirements for a justiciable controversy, that is, for subject matter jurisdiction under the UDJA. To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins, 144 Wash.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001); See Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wn.2d 862, 877, 101 P.3d 67 (2004) ("Inherent in the justiciability determination is the traditional limiting doctrine of standing."). Without standing, the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the plaintiffs' claims. Skagit Surveyors & Eng'rs, LLC v. Friends of Skagit County, 135 Wn.2d 542, 556-57, 958 P.2d 962 (1998). Lack of subject matter

jurisdiction cannot be waived and can be raised at any time. CR 12(h)(3). See Amalgamated Transit Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 11 P.3d 762 (2000) (relying on Washington Beauty College, Inc. v. Huse, 195 Wash. 160, 166, 80 P.2d 403 (1938)); Spokane Airports v. RMA, Inc., 149 Wn.App. 930, 943, 939, 206 P.3d 364 (2009), review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1017, 224 P.3d 773 (2010). Pursuant to Civil Rule 12(h)(3), "[w]henever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall dismiss the action."

#### 2. The Hales Lack Standing Under the UDJA.

Jurisdiction under the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ("UDJA"), RCW 7.24, is limited to justiciable controversies, which involve

(1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests that must be direct and substantial, rather than potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a judicial determination of which will be final and conclusive.

Lakewood Racquet Club, Inc. v. Jensen, 156 Wn.App. 215, 223, 232 P.3d 1147 (2010) (quoting Branson v. Port of Seattle, 152 Wn.2d 862, 877, 101 P.3d 67 (2004)). Inherent in these four requirements is the

traditional limiting doctrine of standing, to ensure that the court renders "a final judgment on an actual dispute between opposing parties that have a genuine stake in the resolution. *Id.* (quoting *To-Ro Trade Shows v. Collins*, 144 Wn.2d 403, 411, 27 P.3d 1149 (2001)). The issue of standing is jurisdictional and may be raised at any time. *International Ass'n of Firefighters, Local 1789 v. Spokane Airports*, 146 Wn.2d 207, 212 n.3, 45 P.3d 186 (2002).

The Hales only have standing under the UDJA if they "fall within the zone of interest that the statute in question protects or regulates and (2) have suffered an 'injury in fact.'" *Id.* at 224. They satisfy neither of these requirements. They have not presented facts demonstrating any injury in fact as a result of Bridge Builders' alleged violation of RCW 70.127 and they do not fall within the zone of interest the statute protects. Each element is necessary to establish standing and the Hales fail as to both.

# a. The Hales are not within the zone of interest of RCW 70.127.

The statute provides that home care services consist of "assistance provided to . . . vulnerable individuals that enable them to remain in their residences," RCW 70.127.010 (6). It was enacted to address the concern that "the delivery of [home care] services brings risks because the in-home location of services makes their actual delivery virtually invisible," RCW

70.127.005. Therefore, the zone of interest the statute protects is that of individuals receiving care in their homes that allows them to remain residing in their homes.

The Hales do not fall within that zone of interest. During the nine-day association Lisle and Clara Hale had with Bridge Builders they resided in a nursing home, not in their residence, and received care from nursing home staff. The trial court properly found that the services provided to the Hales were insufficient to subject defendants to licensing. (CP 254.) Since Lisle and Clara Hale did not receive home care services from the defendants, they do not fall within the statute's zone of interest.

Likewise their children, who received no in-home care or any type of service at all from Bridge Builders, fall outside the zone of interest protected by the statute and lack standing to pursue these claims. The parties do not dispute that the only services Bridge Builders provided to Lisle and Clara consisted of meeting with them several times to discuss moving them back home, making arrangements with third-party, in-home care providers for their care once they moved home, arranging for a locksmith at Lisle Hale's request to place locks on Lisle and Clara's living quarters, a trip to the Hales' bank respecting their bank accounts, and assisting Lisle Hale in paying some bills. (CP 240-42.)

In their December 29, 2011 declarations, neither Robert Hale nor Tricia Hale set forth any specific facts to contradict or create an issue of fact regarding the services Bridge Builders actually provided the Hales. "When a non-moving party fails to controvert relevant facts supporting a summary judgment motion, those facts are considered to have been established." Lipscomb v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 142 Wn.App. 20, 174 P.3d 1182 (2007) (citing Central Wash. Bank v. Mendelson-Zeller, Inc., 113 Wn.2d 346, 354, 779 P.2d 697 (1989)). Tricia Hale's discussion of the services she asserts Bridge Builders "would have had to" provide to her parents once they moved home is not material. (CP 127-28.) Her speculation on potential future events that never occurred does not satisfy the Hales' burden of setting forth specific facts to demonstrate a genuine issue for trial, notwithstanding the fact that Bridge Builders was arranging for third-parties to provide the Hales' in-home care once they moved home and never intended to provide the care itself. (CP 245.)

All of the services Bridge Builders actually provided to Lisle and Clara Hale are either case management services, permitted pursuant to RCW 70.127.040(14), or services in the capacity as power of attorney. RCW 70.127.040(14) provides that persons providing case management services are not subject to regulation under the Act, and defines case management services as "the assessment, coordination, authorization,

planning, training, and monitoring of home health, hospice, and home care, and does not include the direct provision of care to an individual." These are precisely the type of services Bridge Builders provided the Hales – meeting with Lisle and Clara Hale and assessing their needs, planning with them for their in-home care once they had moved back home and coordinating with KWA Home Care, the agency that was to provide the Hales' in-home care. (CP 243-45.)

The assistance Bridge Builders provided Lisle and Clara Hale with their banking and with bill paying was done pursuant to the valid powers of attorney and likewise was not in-home care. An attorney-in-fact's services such as banking and bill paying cannot be in-home care under the Act otherwise every attorney-in-fact would also be an in-home care provider, an impossibility given the prohibition in section 70.127,150. That section provides that "No licensee, contractee, or employee may hold a durable power of attorney on behalf of any individual who is receiving care from the licensee." Finally, the Hales do not dispute that Lisle and Clara Hale resided in a nursing home for the entire time in question and received care from nursing home staff. They could not have received in-home care from Bridge Builders as they had yet to return home.

The parties are not in dispute as to the services Bridge Builders provided to Lisle and Clara Hale and it is those services alone that must

form the basis of the Hales' claims for declaratory relief. Services provided to other individuals have no bearing on the Hales' case and cannot establish the elements of their claims. Assuming arguendo that Bridge Builders provided in-home care to some third-party then that individual might have a claim against it, but that does nothing to bring the Hales within the zone of interest of the statute. The doctrine of standing prohibits a party from asserting another's legal right. *Grant County Fire Protection Dist, No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake*, 150 Wn.2d 791, 803, 83 P.3d 419 (2004). "The kernel of the standing doctrine is that one who is not adversely affected by a statute may not question its validity." *Id.* 

The Hales assert in their brief that the trial court was wrong to conclude they lack standing because they did not receive in-home care from Bridge Builders. (Br. 29.) They argue the issue is not whether they received in-home services but rather whether Bridge Builders had to be licensed, making the circular argument that because Bridge Builders had to be licensed the Hales have standing. *Id.* It is the Hales, not the trial court, who are wrong. They must first establish they have standing before reaching the substantive issue of their claim – whether Bridge Builders is required to be licensed. They did not receive in-home care from Bridge Builders. They are therefore not within the statutes' zone of interest and

not impacted by any alleged violation of the statute by Bridge Builders in its service to a third party.

The Hales likewise do not have standing based on allegedly "illegal" powers of attorney. The prohibition in RCW 70.127.150 that "[n]o licensee, contractee, or employee may hold a durable power of attorney on behalf of any individual who is receiving care from the licensee" is limited by its plain language to instances where the power of attorney is held on behalf of the same individual who is being provided with in-home care. Any in-home care Bridge Builders allegedly provided to any persons other than Lisle and Clara Hale has no effect on the legitimacy of powers of attorney held on behalf of Lisle and Clara Hale. The statute only prohibits an in-home care provider from serving on behalf of individuals for whom one provides in-home care. Since Bridge Builders did not provide in-home care to Lisle and Clara Hale, the powers of attorney on their behalf are not prohibited by the statute and do no bring the Hales within its zone of interest.

## b. The Hales failed to demonstrate any injury in fact.

Apart from the bare allegation that they suffered an injury, the Hales have offered no specific facts demonstrating any injury caused by Bridge Builders alleged lack of license under RCW 70.127. They did not

discuss the injury-in-fact element of standing at all in their opposition to Bridge Builders' motion. (Pls.' Opp. 18-21.) For the first time in their appellate brief, the Hales discuss injury in fact but again fail to set forth any specific facts demonstrating any injury to person or property or any right invaded by Bridge Builders' alleged violation of RCW 70.127.

The discussion of injury in the Hales' brief, "injuries in fact of the rights of the Plaintiffs," (Br. 24), consists of argumentative assertions and conclusory allegations unsupported by specific facts from which a trier of fact could find injury. Plaintiffs have not met their burden of setting forth specific facts and have failed to establish a necessary element of standing. They are therefore unable to establish subject matter jurisdiction under the UDJA.

# 3. The Hales' UDJA claims do not present a justiciable controversy because a ruling by the court would not be final and conclusive.

The Hales do not address in their brief and did not address in their opposition to Bridge Builders' motion the separate basis for the Court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction — that the fourth requirement for justiciability, a final and conclusive determination, is not met in this case. They have assigned no error to the trial court's correct determination that it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over their UDJA claims because a ruling on those claims would not be final and conclusive. Courts decline to

issue declaratory judgment where it will not produce a final and conclusive determination. *Brown v. Vail*, 169 Wn.2d 318, 334, 237 P.3d 263 (2010).

In Brown, the Washington State Supreme Court declined to issue a declaratory judgment based on alleged violations of RCW 69.50, Washington's Uniform Controlled Substances Act (UCSA), and 21 U.S.C. §§ 801-971, the federal Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act (DAPCA). Id. at 333. The Supreme Court focused its reasoning on the fourth element necessary for a justiciable controversy, that a judicial determination be final and conclusive. The court noted that a declaratory judgment has no direct, coercive effect and that the decision to enforce provisions of a statute is left to the discretion of the agency overseeing the statute. Id. at 334. The court declined to exercise its authority to render a judgment "that would look very much like an advisory opinion," as it would not terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to the proceeding. In doing so, it stated that it could "not see what purpose a judgment declaring a violation would serve when enforcement of the alleged violations remains in the discretion of the agency, and no party is bound to act in accord with such judgment." Id.

As in *Brown*, a judicial determination here would not be final and conclusive as enforcement of the statute in question, RCW 70.127, is left

to the discretion of the Department of Health. The Hales brought this matter before the department and it investigated and found no violation. (CP 295.) Because a judicial determination on the Hales' UDJA claims will not be final and conclusive, the elements for a justiciable controversy are not met.

The court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Hales' UDJA claims because they are not within the zone of interest of RCW 70.127, they have not proffered any specific facts to demonstrate an injury in fact, and a determination in this matter would not be final and conclusive. Their failure to meet any one of these elements is sufficient to deprive the court of subject matter jurisdiction, and they fail on all three. The trial court therefore properly granted summary judgment in favor of Bridge Builders on those claims.

### C. The Trial Court Properly Granted Bridge Builders' Motion For Protective Order

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